IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

SUPREME COURT NO. 17-1834
Polk County Case No. CVCV053887

IOWA STATE EDUCATION ASSOCIATION
and
DAVENPORT EDUCATION ASSOCIATION,

Plaintiffs/Appellants

vs.

STATE OF IOWA,
IOWA PUBLIC EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD,
MIKE CORMACK,
JAMIE VAN FOSSEN, and
MARY GANNON,

Defendants/Appellees

**APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR POLK COUNTY**
The Honorable Michael D. Huppert

FINAL BRIEF FOR PLAINTIFFS/APPELLANTS

BECKY S. KNUTSON AT0004225
Davis, Brown, Koehn, Shors &
Roberts, P.C.
215 - 10th Street, Suite 1300
Des Moines, Iowa 50309
Telephone:(515) 288-2500

Facsimile: (515) 243-0654
BeckyKnutson@davisbrownlaw.com

Of Counsel:

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether House File 291 violates Article I, Section 6 of the Iowa Constitution by granting greater collective bargaining rights to one class of public employees and employee organizations than to others that are similarly situated.

Authorities

Bass v. J.C. Penney Co, 880 N.W.2d 751 (Iowa 2016)
Bierkamp v. Rogers, 293 N.W.2d 577 (Iowa 1980)
Fitzgerald v. Racing Ass’n of Cent. Iowa, 539 U.S. 103 (2003)
Frontier Leasing Corp. v. Links Eng’g, LLC, 781 N.W.2d 772 (Iowa 2010)
Gregory v. Second Injury Fund of Iowa, 777 N.W.2d 395 (Iowa 2010)
Horsfield Materials, Inc. v. City of Dyersville, 834 N.W.2d 444 (Iowa 2013)
LSCP, LLLP v. Kay-Decker, 861 N.W.2d 846 (Iowa 2015)
McQuiston v. City of Clinton, 872 N.W.2d 817 (Iowa 2015)
NextEra Energy Res., LLC v. Iowa Utilities Bd., 815 N.W.2d 30 (Iowa 2012)
Qwest Corp. v. Iowa State Bd. of Tax Review, 829 N.W.2d 550 (Iowa 2013)
Racing Ass’n of Cent. Iowa v. Fitzgerald, 675 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 2004)
Residential & Agric. Advisory Comm., LLC v. Dyersville City Council, 888 N.W.2d 24 (Iowa 2016)
State v. Mitchell, 757 N.W.2d 431 (Iowa 2008)
Tyler v. Iowa Dept. of Revenue, 904 N.W.2d 162 (Iowa 2017)
Varnum v. Brien, 763 N.W.2d 862 (Iowa 2009)
Wisconsin Educ. Ass’n Council v. Walker, 824 F. Supp. 2d 856 (W.D. Wis. 2012)
Wisconsin Educ. Ass’n Council v. Walker, 705 F.3d 640 (7th Cir. 2013)
Iowa Code § 20.12(3-5) (2017)
Iowa Code § 97B.49B(1)(e)
Iowa Labor Center, “*To Promote Harmonious and Cooperative Relationships*”: A Brief History of Public Sector Bargaining in Iowa, 1966 to 2016 (2016)

2. Whether House File 291 violates Article I, Section 6 by prohibiting public employers from allowing employees to pay dues to an employee organization by payroll deduction while not prohibiting payroll deduction for any other kind of payment, including payment of dues to any other organization.

Authorities

Bass v. J.C. Penney Co, 880 N.W.2d 751 (Iowa 2016)

Bierkamp v. Rogers, 293 N.W.2d 577 (Iowa 1980)

LSCP, LLLP v. Kay-Decker, 861 N.W.2d 846 (Iowa 2015)

Residential & Agric. Advisory Comm., LLC v. Dyersville City Council,
888 N.W.2d 24 (Iowa 2016)

Iowa Code § 20.1(1)

Iowa Code § 20.10(1)

Iowa Code § 20.10(2)(e)

ROUTING STATEMENT

Plaintiffs/Appellants believe this case should properly be retained by the Iowa Supreme Court as it “present[s] substantial constitutional questions as to the validity of a statute, ordinance, or court or administrative rule.” *See* Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(a); *see also Racing Ass’n of Cent. Iowa v. Fitzgerald*, 675 N.W.2d 1, 4 (Iowa 2004) (“It is this court’s constitutional obligation as the highest court of this sovereign state to determine whether the challenged classification violates Iowa’s constitutional equality provision.”).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In February 2017 the Iowa legislature enacted House File 291 (“H.F. 291”), which substantially alters the Public Employment Relations Act (“PERA”) contained in Iowa Code Chapter 20. Plaintiffs/Appellants Iowa State Education Association (“ISEA”) and Davenport Education Association (“DEA”), as employee organizations representing employees of public schools, challenge two features of H.F. 291 that violate Article I, Section 6 of the Iowa Constitution by denying equal treatment to these organizations and the employees they represent.

First, the broad collective bargaining rights that previously were granted to all of Iowa’s public employees are confined by H.F. 291 to employees in bargaining units in which at least thirty percent of the members work in a limited class of “public safety” positions. *Second*, H.F. 291 prohibits public employers from allowing employees to make dues payments to an employee organization by means of payroll deduction, but does not prohibit payroll deduction for any other kind of payment, including payment of dues to any other kind of organization.

The ISEA and DEA filed a Petition for Declaratory and Injunctive Relief on April 4, 2017. (App. 35-56, Petition for Declaratory and Injunctive Relief). The Defendants, collectively, filed their Answer and Affirmative

Defense to Petition on May 9, 2017. (App. 57-65, Answer and Affirmative Defense to Petition). Plaintiffs and defendants both moved for summary judgment. (App. 66-67, 68-71; Defendants’ Motion for Summary Judgment, May 9, 2017, and Plaintiff’s Motion for Summary Judgment, June 23, 2017). The district court denied plaintiffs’ motion and granted defendants’ motion, dismissing the case with prejudice. (*See* App. 17-34, Ruling on Motions for Summary Judgment (“Ruling”) (Oct. 18, 2017)). The ISEA and DEA filed a timely Notice of Appeal to the Iowa Supreme Court. (App. 176-79, Notice of Appeal, November 13, 2017).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. PERA Prior to House File 291

Between 1967 and 1970, Iowa experienced a series of major public-sector strikes, most notably by the teachers in the town of Keokuk. *See* University of Iowa Labor Center, “*To Promote Harmonious and Cooperative Relationships*”: *A Brief History of Public Sector Bargaining in Iowa, 1966 to 2016* (2016) at 1-3, (Second Supp. App. 7-9; Exh. 20 to Affidavit of Teague B. Paterson, Plf. App. pp. 254-56). By 1969, Governor Robert Ray had announced his support for adopting a statewide legal framework for public sector bargaining, and the legislature established a

study committee to consider the issue. (Second Supp. App. 9, *Id.* p. 256). Initial efforts to pass legislation did not bear fruit, but in 1974 “an exceptionally bi-partisan coalition in the House” passed the Public Employment Relations Act (“PERA”), and the Senate proceeded to pass the bill with amendments. *Id.*

PERA created an orderly system of public sector collective bargaining.¹ Under PERA no employee was obligated to join or pay any fee to a public employee organization (union), *see* Iowa Code § 20.8(4), but all employees were entitled to vote to select a public employee union to represent the employees as their bargaining representative. If an employee organization was certified as the employees’ bargaining representative, it could bargain on their behalf with their employer over a wide range of workplace issues, including:

wages, hours, vacations, insurance, holidays, leaves of absence, shift differentials, overtime compensation, supplemental pay, seniority, transfer procedures, job classifications, health and safety matters, evaluation procedures, procedures for staff reduction, in-service training and other matters mutually agreed upon.

Id. § 20.9.

¹ PERA, as it stood prior to the enactment of House File 291, is included in the record at App. 180-195, Plf. App. pp. 2-17.

All of these bargaining subjects were mandatory, meaning that both the employee organization and the employer had a duty to bargain in good faith over each of these subjects. The only employment-related subject that the 1974 legislature excluded from the scope of the bargaining duty was the public employee retirement system, *id.*, which is governed by separate and detailed statutory schemes such as are set forth in Chapters 97B and 411 of the Iowa Code.

PERA set forth an extensive set of rules and procedures to govern the collective bargaining process, which, except as described *infra*, are largely unchanged by H.F. 291. *See id.* §§ 20.17, 20.19-22. Of particular importance here, PERA establishes procedures to resolve impasses in collective bargaining through mediation and binding interest arbitration. *Id.* §§ 20.19-22. In interest arbitration, each party submits its final offer on the impasse subjects to an arbitrator, who holds a hearing and, based on consideration of specified factors, “select[s] ... the most reasonable offer, in the arbitrator’s judgment, of the final offers on each impasse item submitted by the parties.” *Id.* § 20.22(10)(a).

In PERA the legislature outlawed public sector strikes for the first time and authorized injunctions to restrain any actual or “imminently threatened” strike. *Id.* § 20.12(3). Any failure to comply with such an

injunction is punishable by imprisonment, heavy fines, automatic discharge from employment for any employee who is “held to be in contempt of court for failure to comply with an injunction . . . , or is convicted of violating [the no-strike provision],” and, for an employee organization, immediate decertification. *Id.* § 20.12(5).

PERA’s balanced approach of an effective system of collective bargaining and impasse resolution coupled with a strong prohibition of strikes proved successful. Since the enactment of PERA, no public-sector strikes have occurred in Iowa. (App. 59, *See Answer* ¶ 25). Where interest arbitration has been invoked, school districts and ISEA’s local associations have prevailed with roughly equal frequency: in the 48 arbitration proceedings involving those parties from 1997 through 2016, arbitrators made determinations on 71 issues, ruling for local associations on 39 of those issues and for school districts on 32 of them. (*See App.* 244; *Second Supp. App.* 4; *Affidavit of Coy Marquardt, Plf. App.* pp. 71-72). And the availability of interest arbitration has encouraged parties to reach agreement without the need for arbitration, such that among ISEA’s more than 400 local affiliates, most of which engage in bargaining every year, there have been on average only about two interest arbitrations a year (48 arbitrations over a 20-year period). *Id.*

Collective bargaining has enabled school districts and local affiliates to reach considered, comprehensive and thoughtful solutions to complex issues raised by such subjects as base wages, supplemental pay, insurance, transfer procedures, evaluation procedures and staff reduction procedures. (App. 405, Affidavit of Tim Taylor , Plf. Supp. App. p. 2). For example, school districts often have negotiated total-package-cost agreements which include mutually acceptable trade-offs between pay and benefits, with local associations agreeing to offset increased the costs of benefits (particularly health insurance) through reductions in salary or in salary increases. (*See* App. 238-240, 244, 405-406; Marquardt Aff., Plf. App. pp. 65-67, 71; Taylor Aff., Plf. Supp. App. pp. 2-3). And, as to procedures for transfers, evaluations and staff reductions, as well as many other rules and policies, bargaining has served to identify the concerns of both the employer and the employees and to provide an effective means of exploring solutions that will accommodate the parties' respective interests. Through a process of give-and-take with a dispute resolution procedure available in the event of impasse, collective bargaining has enabled school districts and local associations to reach comprehensive agreements addressing a wide range of subjects in a mutually acceptable manner. (App. 238-244, 406-08; Marquardt Aff., Plf. App. pp. 65-71; Taylor Aff., Plf. Supp. App. pp. 3-5).

On the 40th anniversary of PERA, former Governor Ray described the successful operation of PERA thus:

Iowa has a system that is envied by many states that struggle to achieve the proper balance of protecting workers while maintaining effective management of government. In Iowa, it is an equal balance of power at the table between labor and management that has provided positive results that work for all Iowans.

Statement from Governor Robert D. Ray on 40 years of PERB, available at <https://archive.is/GbwD> (last visited Jan. 9, 2018).

B. H.F. 291 Drastically Alters PERA

H.F. 291 was introduced on February 9, 2017 and passed by the Iowa legislature a few days later, in unprecedented time and with limited debate. (App. 401, Affidavit of Bradley Hudson, Plf. App. p. 305). On February 17, 2017, Governor Terry Branstad signed H.F. 291 into law. The legislation makes drastic changes to the PERA framework that has governed public sector labor relations in Iowa for more than forty years.² The changes that are challenged in this appeal concern two crucial areas: (1) the scope of

² App. 196-235, H.F. 291 is at Plf. App. pp. 19-61.

collective bargaining and interest arbitration, and (2) the permissibility of payroll deduction of dues.³

1. House File 291’s Discriminatory Deprivation of Bargaining and Impasse Resolution Rights

a. H.F. 291 divides employees into two classes: “public safety employees” and all others. The statute does not explain what makes a position one of “public safety” for purposes of this law; Section 1 of the new law simply lists the positions that will be treated as falling within the “public safety” category, as follows:

- a. A sheriff’s regular deputy.
- b. A marshal or police officer of a city, township, or special purpose district or authority who is a member of a paid police department.
- c. A member, except a non-peace officer member, of the division of state patrol, narcotics enforcement, state fire marshal, or criminal investigation, including but not limited to a gaming enforcement officer, who has been duly appointed by the department of public safety in accordance with section 80.15.
- d. A conservation officer or park ranger as authorized by section 456A.13.

³ H.F. 291 also enacted several changes to the provisions of PERA that govern elections to certify a bargaining representative. Plaintiffs challenged certain of those changes, *see* App. 47-48, 53-54; Petition for Declaratory and Injunctive Relief ¶¶ 44-48, 62-66, but are not pursuing those claims on appeal.

e. A permanent or full-time firefighter of a city, township, or special-purpose district or authority who is a member of a paid fire department.

f. A peace officer designated by the department of transportation under section 321.477 who is subject to mandated law enforcement training.

That list does not correspond with any previous categorization of public employees in Iowa law. For example, university police, who by law “shall have the same powers, duties, privileges, and immunities as conferred on regular peace officers,” Iowa Code § 262.13, are excluded from the “public safety employee” classification in H.F. 291, even though they are classified by Iowa law as “law enforcement officers” who, pursuant to Iowa Code Ch. 80B, are trained and certified by the Iowa Law Enforcement Academy (ILEA). *See* Iowa Attorney General Opinion No. 70-4-28 (opining that the term “law enforcement officer” includes “college and university security police”); (App. 287-89, 311-314, 315-324; Affidavit of Ryan De Vries, Plf. App. pp. 119-21; Job Description for Regents Police Officer, Plf. App. pp. 157-60; Regents Police Arming Agenda Packet, Plf. App. pp. 162-70). Also excluded from H.F. 291’s “public safety employee” classification are probation/parole officers and Fraud Bureau investigation officers, who likewise are ILEA-certified law enforcement officials. (App. 293-94, 291-92, Affidavits of John Meeker, Plf. App. pp. 127-28 and Gabriel Jordan

Schaapveld, Plf. App. pp. 124-25). In addition, H.F. 291 places most firefighters in the “public safety employee” classification, but inexplicably excludes airport firefighters. (App. 295-97, Affidavit of Michael Peters, Plf. App. pp. 130-32). And all corrections officers, jailers and emergency medical service providers are excluded, even though all of those employees – as well as university police, probation/parole officers, Fraud Bureau investigation officers and airport firefighters – work in what are classified as “protection occupations” by the statute governing the Iowa Public Employees Retirement System. *See* Iowa Code § 97B.49B(1)(e).

b. Under H.F. 291, an employee organization retains broad bargaining rights only if at least thirty percent of the members of the bargaining unit represented by the organization are “public safety employees” as listed in the statute. But if that threshold is met, Section 6 of H.F. 291 provides that the organization may exercise broad bargaining rights with respect to *all* members of its unit, including those who are *not* “public safety employees.” Conversely, Section 6 provides that an employee organization representing a unit of which fewer than thirty percent of the members fall within the “public safety employee” category cannot exercise broad bargaining rights on behalf of *any* of its members, including those who are public safety employees under the statute.

Thus, large numbers of peace officers employed by the State of Iowa who are in positions classified by H.F. 291 as “public safety” positions nevertheless are subjected to H.F. 291’s severe restrictions on bargaining, because those officers happen to be part of a large mixed unit of which fewer than thirty percent of the members are in “public safety” positions. (App. 395, Affidavit of Danny Homan ¶ 5, Plf. App. p. 297). The same is true of the police officers or deputy sheriffs in a number of communities, such as Humboldt County and the cities of Guttenberg and Decorah. (App. 402-03, Affidavit of Andrew F. Williams, Plf. App. pp. 351-52).

For the favored employee organizations – those representing bargaining units in which at least thirty percent of the members are “public safety employees” as listed in H.F. 291 – Section 6 of the statute provides that, for all members of the unit, the right to bargain continues to be broad, extending to “wages, hours, vacations, insurance, holidays, leaves of absence, shift differentials, overtime compensation, supplemental pay, seniority, transfer procedures, job classifications, health and safety matters, evaluation procedures, procedures for staff reduction, in-service training, grievance procedures for resolving any questions arising under the agreement, and other matters mutually agreed upon.” In contrast, for employee organizations representing all other units of public employees,

Section 6 provides that the right to bargain encompasses only “base wages and other matters mutually agreed upon,” and the legislation specifies that these subjects “shall be interpreted narrowly and restrictively.” *Id.*

Moreover, these disfavored employee organizations are expressly prohibited by Section 6 from any bargaining over “insurance, leaves of absence for political activities, supplemental pay, transfer procedures, evaluation procedures, procedures for staff reduction, and subcontracting public services.”

The inequality in bargaining rights that H.F. 291 imposes extends as well to the interest arbitration process that is available in the event of impasse. As an initial matter, because arbitrators can only consider parties’ proposals on issues for which bargaining is allowed, the extreme disparity in bargaining rights described above means that interest arbitration awards for disfavored units are limited to resolving disputes over base wages and the handful of “other matters” that are not specifically prohibited and as to which bargaining is permissive but not mandatory. Impasse resolution is no longer permitted for all other disputes, including those over insurance, preventing arbitrations from considering, for disfavored units, the full sweep of tradeoffs that favored units may still seek. For favored units, on the other hand, employee organizations may submit to the arbitrator proposals on the

broad range of issues as to which negotiating continues to be mandatory or permissive as was the case prior to the new law.

In addition, under Sections 12 and 13 of H.F. 291, the factors the arbitrator is to consider in determining which party's proposal should be selected differ depending on whether an employee organization is in the favored or disfavored category. If the arbitration involves a favored unit, the arbitrator must consider past collective bargaining agreements between the parties and the parties' bargaining history, but those matters are barred from consideration in an arbitration involving a disfavored organization. And for a favored unit, an arbitrator must compare the employees' wages, hours and conditions of employment to those of other public employees, whereas for a disfavored unit, private sector base wages, hours and working conditions must form part of the comparison.

On top of these restrictions on the scope, topics and factors that govern impasse arbitration for disfavored units, an award for such units is subject to two additional severe restrictions that do not apply to the favored "public safety employee" units. First, Section 13 provides that in an arbitration involving a disfavored unit, the arbitrator "shall not consider ... [t]he public employer's ability to fund an award through the increase or imposition of new taxes, fees, or charges, or to develop other sources of

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