BEFORE THE IOWA SUPREME COURT

---

No. 17-1834  
Polk County Case No. CVCV053887

---

IOWA STATE EDUCATION ASSOCIATION and  
DAVENPORT EDUCATION ASSOCIATION,

Plaintiffs-Appellants,

vs.

STATE OF IOWA, IOWA PUBLIC EMPLOYMENT  
RELATIONS BOARD, MIKE CORMACK,  
JAMIE VAN FOSSEN, and MARY GANNON,

Defendants-Appellees.

---

APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT  
OF POLK COUNTY  
HON. MICHAEL D. HUPPERT

---

APPELLEES' BRIEF

---

Michael R. Reck, AT0006573  
Matthew C. McDermott, AT0005085  
Kelsey J. Knowles, AT0004233  
Espnola F. Cartmill, AT0010237

BELIN McCORMICK, P.C.  
666 Walnut Street Suite 2000  
Des Moines, IA 50309-3989  
Telephone: (515) 283-4643  
Facsimile: (515) 558-0643

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

## ARGUMENT

### **I. Plaintiffs’ challenges are subject only to a rational basis review.**

The State agrees that Plaintiffs have preserved error on both issues in this appeal. The Iowa Supreme Court reviews district court summary judgment rulings for correction of errors at law. *Baker v. City of Iowa City*, 867 N.W.2d 44, 51 (Iowa 2015). The review of constitutional claims is de novo. *State v. Groves*, 742 N.W.2d 90, 92 (Iowa 2007).

Article I, section 6 of the Iowa Constitution guarantees that “[a]ll laws of a general nature shall have a uniform operation; the general assembly shall not grant to any citizen, or class of citizens, privileges or immunities, which, upon the same terms shall not equally belong to all citizens.” This section has come to be known as the “equal protection clause” of the Iowa Constitution. *Qwest Corp. v. Iowa St. Bd. of Tax Review*, 829 N.W.2d 550, 557 n.4 (Iowa 2013). Like its federal counterpart, the Iowa equal protection clause “is

essentially a direction that all persons similarly situated should be treated alike.” *Id.* at 558 (quoting *Varnum v. Brien*, 763 N.W.2d 862, 878 (Iowa 2009)).

To prove an equal protection claim, Plaintiffs must first establish some disparate treatment of similarly situated persons. *McQuisition v. City of Clinton*, 872 N.W.2d 817, 830 (Iowa 2015). Stated differently, Plaintiffs must first show that the different bargaining units they seek to compare are similarly situated. Analyzing whether classifications involve similarly situated persons, however, ultimately is intertwined with whether the identified classification has a rational basis. *See State v. Dudley*, 766 N.W.2d 606, 616 (Iowa 2009) (difficulty in this analysis “is attributable to the inescapable relationship between the threshold test and the ultimate scrutiny of the legislative basis for the classification”). Identifying the classifications’ differences is thus unlikely to decide this case without also conducting the equal protection analysis.

Depending on the context, three different levels of scrutiny may apply to equal protection challenges—strict scrutiny, intermediate scrutiny, or rational basis review. *NextEra Energy Res. LLC v. Iowa Utilities Bd.*, 815 N.W.2d 30, 45-46 (Iowa 2012).

Strict scrutiny applies in equal protection analysis when fundamental rights or suspect classifications are involved. *Ames Rental Prop. Ass'n v. City of Ames*, 736 N.W.2d 255, 259 (Iowa 2007). Public sector collective bargaining is not a fundamental right, as such a right did not exist at all until our Legislature created it. *State Bd. of Regents v. United Packing House Food & Allied Workers, Local No. 1258*, 175 N.W.2d 110, 113 (Iowa 1970) (granting collective bargaining rights to public employees “is a matter for the legislature, not the courts”). Likewise, nothing within a distinction between Public Safety Employees and other employees, or between trade associations and labor unions, implicates a suspect classification that Iowa law recognizes. *See Sanchez v. State*, 692 N.W.2d 812, 817 (Iowa 2005) (suspect classifications involve race, alienage, or national origin); *Kelly v. State*, 525 N.W.2d 409, 411

(Iowa 1994) (“no suspect classification is involved in union membership or nonmembership”).

In equal protection analysis, intermediate scrutiny applies to what have been described as “quasi-suspect” classifications “based on gender, illegitimacy, or sexual orientation.” *NextEra*, 815 N.W.2d at 46. No party has been subject to a history of invidious discrimination or anything else justifying heightened intermediate scrutiny. See *Sherman v. Pella Corp.*, 576 N.W.2d 312, 317 (Iowa 1998); *Slifer v. Pub. Employee Relations Bd. of Kansas*, No. 90-4026-R, 1992 WL 25457, at \*6 (D. Kan. Jan. 28, 1992) (collective bargaining groups do “not involve . . . quasi-suspect classes” and do not trigger intermediate scrutiny).

Social and economic legislation, such as the collective bargaining provisions at issue here, are reviewed under the rational basis test. *Qwest*, 829 N.W.2d at 558; *King v. State*, 818 N.W.2d 1, 27 (Iowa 2012). Courts properly and uniformly analyze classifications like those at issue through rational basis review. *E.g.*, *Wisconsin Educ Ass’n Council v. Walker*, 705 F.3d 640, 653 (7th Cir. 2013); *Vorbeck v. McNeal*, 407 F. Supp. 733, 739 (E.D. Mo. 1976) (“since as

we have stated, there is no constitutional right to collective bargaining, the issue is whether the classification has a rational relation to a legitimate governmental interest.”), *aff’d*, 426 U.S. 943 (1976). Plaintiffs concede the rational basis test is the proper standard of review concerning their challenges in this appeal. (Plaintiffs’ Brief at 30, 53.)

Rational basis review under Iowa’s equal protection clause, while “not toothless,” presents “a very deferential standard.” *Varnum*, 763 N.W.2d at 879. Under this lowest level of scrutiny, Plaintiffs bear “the heavy burden of showing the statute unconstitutional and must negate every reasonable basis upon which the classification may be sustained.” *NextEra*, 815 N.W.2d at 46. Iowa courts “will not declare something unconstitutional under the rational-basis test unless it clearly, palpably, and without doubt infringes upon the constitution.” *Residential & Agric. Advisory Comm., LLC v. Dyersville City Council*, 888 N.W.2d 24, 50 (Iowa 2016) (internal quotation omitted).

Equal protection requirements are satisfied “as long as there is a plausible policy reason for the classification, the legislative

facts on which the classification is apparently based rationally may have been considered to be true by the governmental decisionmaker, and the relationship of the classification to its goal is not so attenuated as to render the distinction arbitrary or irrational.” *NextEra*, 815 N.W.2d at 46 (quoting *Varnum*, 763 N.W.2d at 879 and *Racing Ass’n of Cent. Iowa v. Fitzgerald (RACI)*, 675 N.W.2d 1, 7 (Iowa 2004)).

**II. Allowing units with more Public Safety Employees more bargaining rights does not violate equal protection.**

**A. Preservation of public safety and protection of the public fisc are proper policy reasons supporting the challenged classifications.**

A classification among similarly situated persons is reasonable “if it is based upon some apparent difference in situation or circumstances of the subjects placed within one class or the other which establishes the necessity or propriety of distinction between them.” *NextEra*, 815 N.W.2d at 46 (quoting *In re Morrow*, 616 N.W.2d 544, 548 (Iowa 2000)). A classification does not violate equal protection “simply because in practice it results in some inequality;

practical problems of government permit rough accommodations.”

*Id.*

Several valid bases exist for the classification concerning Public Safety Employees. First, the Legislature could rationally conclude Public Safety Employees filled too critical a role to risk a work stoppage if their statutorily-created bargaining rights were curtailed. *See Wisconsin Educ. Ass’n Council*, 705 F.3d at 655. Public Safety Employees provide such essential services that, if momentarily disrupted, would cause clear and present danger to public health and safety. *See Margiotta v. Kaye*, 283 F. Supp. 2d 857, 865 (E.D.N.Y. 2003). Accordingly, the Legislature rationally could conclude this risk of labor unrest by Public Safety Employees was greater than the risk from other employees.

As the district court noted, events in Wisconsin give rise to a reasonable fear of labor unrest by public employees following enactment of the Amendments:

[E]xperience has borne out the state’s fears: in the wake of Act 10 [Wisconsin’s version of H.F.291]’s proposal and passage, thousands descended on the state capital in protest and numerous teachers organized a sick-out through their unions, forcing schools to close, while the state avoided the large societal cost of immediate labor

unrest among public safety employees. Wisconsin was free to determine that the costs of potential labor unrest exceeded the benefits of restricting the public safety unions.

Ruling at 9 (quoting *Wisconsin Educ. Ass'n Council*, 705 F.3d at 655).

Further, should State employees strike, it would fall upon Public Safety Employees to enforce Chapter 20's penalties. It is rational for our Legislature to seek to avoid the creation of such a conflict for Public Safety Employees who would, in that instance, be asked to enforce penalties against fellow members of their own collective bargaining units. The Legislature rationally could seek to avoid the potential morale and related problems facing Public Safety Employees in such a situation. The Legislature "was free to determine that the costs of potential labor unrest exceeded the benefits of restricting the public safety units." *Wisconsin Educ. Ass'n Council*, 705 F.3d at 655.

Moreover, the Legislature likewise was free to conclude Public Safety Employees face different and unique safety issues that create different importance for bargaining on particular topics, including health insurance. *See, e.g., Beverlin v. Bd. of Police Comm'rs of*



*Kansas City, Mo.*, 722 F.2d 395, 396 (8th Cir. 1983) (affirming “police can constitutionally be treated differently from any other type of government employee”); *Confederation of Police v. City of Chicago*, 481 F. Supp. 566, 568 (N.D. Ill. 1980) (“There is no question that police officers occupy a unique position in society. The functional differences between police officers and other city employees may justify different treatment for the police officers.”); *March v. Ruff*, No. C00-03360WHA, 2001 WL 1112110, at \*2 (N.D. Cal. Sept. 17, 2001) (finding police officers “face unique dangers in the course of their jobs”).

In arguing the State acted irrationally, Plaintiffs do not argue the State may not treat Public Safety Employees differently than other employees. Instead, Plaintiffs argue virtually everyone could, sometimes, affect public safety and, thus, all should be deemed Public Safety Employees. The Seventh Circuit Court of Appeals heard and rejected this argument before Iowa’s Legislature acted:

We cannot, as the Unions request, determine precisely which occupations would jeopardize public safety with a strike. Even if we accept that Wisconsin imprudently characterized motor vehicle inspectors as public safety employees or the Capitol Police as general employees,

invalidating the legislation on that ground would elevate the judiciary to the impermissible role of supra-legislature. . . . Distinguishing between public safety unions and general employee unions may have been a poor choice, but it is not unconstitutional.

*Wisconsin Educ. Ass'n Council*, 705 F.3d at 656.

The district court correctly found Iowa's classification is not arbitrary, as Public Safety Employees will reasonably be called upon to preserve public safety in the event of labor unrest after enactment of the Amendments. "If the classification has some 'reasonable basis,' it does not offend the constitution simply because the classification 'is not made with mathematical nicety or because in practice it results in some inequality.'" *Scott County Prop. Taxpayers Ass'n, Inc. v. Scott County*, 473 N.W.2d 28, 31 (Iowa 1991) (quoting *U.S. R.R. Ret. Bd. v. Fritz*, 449 U.S. 166, 175 (1980)). "Defining the class of persons subject to a regulatory requirement . . . requires that some persons who have an almost equally strong claim to favored treatment be placed on different sides of the line . . . [and this] is a matter for legislative, rather than judicial, consideration." *Wisconsin Educ. Ass'n Council*, 705 F.3d at 655 (quoting *FCC v. Beach*

*Commc'ns, Inc.*, 508 U.S. 307, 315–16 (1993)); see *State v. Mann*, 602 N.W.2d 785, 792 (Iowa 1999).

**B. The classification rationally may have been considered to be true by the Legislature, and there is no requirement that the legislators set forth in the legislative record all their reasons for enacting the Amendments.**

Plaintiffs' primary argument in this appeal centers on the lack of statements in the legislative record by supporters of the Amendments concerning the strike-avoidance rationale for the classification. Plaintiffs contend that without discussion by legislators on the record explaining this rationale, the Amendments fail rational basis review.

The record contains very few statements by legislative proponents of the Amendments speaking on the floors of the Iowa Senate or House. Instead, the legislative transcript in this appeal record focuses on failed amendments proposed by opponents to the Amendments.<sup>2</sup> In fact, the legislative transcript in the appeal record does

---

<sup>2</sup> These failed amendments by opponents include Senate Amendment 3030, Senate Amendment 3033, and House Amendment 1031. See App. 246-50 (legis. tr. 3-18) (first speaker in the Senate transcript concluding her remarks with "I certainly support this amendment, 3030"); App. 258 (legis. tr. 53) (speaking in support of Senate

not even contain the entire legislative debate surrounding the Amendments. We know this from, among other things, numerous references to statements made by other legislators that do not appear in the transcript in this appeal record.<sup>3</sup>

Nevertheless, Plaintiffs make the unsupported claim that, with respect to the strike-avoidance rationale, “no *legislator* saw them as a reason for giving special treatment to ‘public safety’ employees.” (Plaintiffs’ Brief p. 36-37 (emphasis in original).) Of

---

Amendment 3030); App. 261 (first speaker in the House transcript speaking in support of House Amendment 1031).

<sup>3</sup> See, e.g., App. 246 (legis. tr. 5) (reference to the Senate having just heard Senator Bolkcom “read a letter from a nurse,” but transcript contains no prior statements by Sen. Bolkcom); App. 249 (legis. tr. 14) (referencing “what’s been said here tonight, certainly what Senator Taylor talked about,” but transcript contains no prior statements by Sen. Taylor); App. 252 (legis. tr. 27) (reference to hearing “Senator Hogg talk about the constitutionality of what we’re doing,” but transcript contains no prior statements by Sen. Hogg); App. 254 (legis. tr. 36) (statement that “Senator Hogg talked about people being treated as second-class citizens,” but transcript contains no prior statements by Sen. Hogg); App. 278 (legis. tr. 131) (reference to hearing “the comments from Representative Holt last night,” but transcript contains no prior statements by Rep. Holt); App. 282 (legis. tr. 148) (reference to statements “Representative Holt said in his opening comments,” but transcript contains no prior statements by Rep. Holt).

course, simply because a legislator did not see fit to explain on the floor of the Iowa House or Senate the reasons for her or his vote does not invalidate the resulting legislation.

Even if the appeal record contained a complete transcript of the entire legislative debate (which it does not), and even if the entire legislative debate only contained the few statements Plaintiffs cite as supporting the Amendments, Plaintiffs' argument would still fail. The Legislature "need not articulate its reasoning at the moment a particular decision is made." *State v. Mitchell*, 757 N.W.2d 431, 437 (Iowa 2008). Courts uphold legislative classifications "based on judgments the legislature *could* have made, without requiring evidence or 'proof' in either a traditional or a nontraditional sense." *King*, 818 N.W.2d at 30 (emphasis added); *see also LSCP, LLLP v. Kay-Decker*, 861 N.W.2d 846, 857-58 (Iowa 2015) (finding "alternative rational bases" based on what the Legislature "*may* have wished," "*may* have had reasonable grounds for," and "*could have* believed")(emphasis added); *Qwest Corp.*, 829 N.W.2d at 563-64 (addressing what the Legislature "*might logically* conclude")(emphasis added).

In considering whether “the legislative facts on which the classification is apparently based rationally may have been considered to be true by the governmental decisionmaker,” *NextEra*, 815 N.W.2d at 46, hypothetical bases for legislation not only may, but *must*, be considered under deferential rational basis review to determine if legislation survives constitutional scrutiny. *See Fritz*, 449 U.S. at 175 (cited in *Scott County*, 473 N.W.2d at 31) (“It is, of course, constitutionally irrelevant whether this reasoning in fact underlay the legislative decision, because this Court has never insisted that a legislative body articulate its reasons for enacting a statute.”); *Beach Commc'ns, Inc.*, 508 U.S. at 315 (“[T]he absence of legislative facts explaining the distinction on the record has no significance in rational-basis analysis.”).

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